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INTRODUCTORY NOTE.

THE present work forms the second of the Mysore Archaological Series:
Architecture and Sculptwre in Mysore, and deals with the Kesava temple at
Belur, one of the most exquisite specimens of the Hoysala style of architec-
ture, built by the Hoysala king Vishnuvardhana in A. D. 1117. The
Kesava temple at Somanathapur, treated of in the first monograph of this
Serics, is a trikutachala or threc-celled structure, while the subject of the
present monograph consists of only one cell, though sorrounded by several
temples, shrines and subsidiary buildings, and, being older than the other by
nearly one hundred and fifty years, may be looked upon as one of the earlier
examples of the Hoysala style. According to Fergusson it combines con-
structive propriety with exuberant decoration to an extent not often
surpassed in any part of the world.

To do anything like justice to the marvellous elaboration and beauty of
the details of this gem of architecture hundreds of plates are necessary.
For the purpose of this short monograph, however, only some of the most
striking features have been sclected and the temple is illustrated by forty-
five plates. The illustrations have been prepared by Mr. T. Namassivayam
Pillai, the Photographer and Draughtsman of my Office.

The list of the artistic buildings of the Hoysala and Dravidian stylesin
Mysore given in the first monograph has now been enlarged to .some extent
by the addition of some more monuments of the two styles brought to light
by recent exploration. Though by no means exhaustive, it is sufficient to
give an idea of the richness of Mysore in these artistic treasures.

1% only remains for me to express my thanks to scholars and the press
for their appreciative notices of my Monograph on the Kesava tcmple at
Somanathapur.

BANGALORE, R. NARASIMHACHAR.
JUNB 1919,
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PROVISIONAL LIST OF ARTISTIC BUILDINGS OF THE HOYSALA AND
DRAVIDIAN STYLES IN MYSORE.
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Those that are marked with an asterisk are more or less in a ruinous

condition.
HOYSALA.
TEMPLE Prace Pxriop Rreian Reuanrxs
SO SR S R
1. Basavesvars Tonaobi C. 1047 | Vinaysditys
2. Mallinatha-basti® Angadi C. 1050 do
3. Kedarcsvara Belgamt "C. 1060 do Triple.
4. Tripurautaks* do 1070 do Double,
5. Kaitabhosvara Kuppatur C. 1070 do
6. Adinatha-basti Chikka Hanasoge ... C. 1090 do Triple.
7. Lakshmidevi Dodda Gaddavalli ... 1113 | Vishnuvardhana | Quadruple
8. Kensava Belur e 1117 do
9. Kappe-Chennigaraya do c.1mm? do Double.
10. Vira.Naraysna do a.17 do
11, Kirti-Narayana Talkad 117 do
12. Dharmesvara Grama 1128 do
13. Kesava do C. 123 do
14, Narusimhs do 0. 1128 do
16. Kenava Matale 1180 do
16. 8iddbesvara do 1130 do
17. Parsvanstha-basti Halebid 11383 do
18. Hoysalesvara do C. 1141 | Narasimha I Double.
19. Jain bauti® Cholasandra 1145 do Triple.
20. Kesava® Honnavars 1149 do
21. Nagesvara® Nidugsl - durgs C. 11E0 do
29. Parsvanatba-banti Hegpere 1160 do
23. Tsvars Aunckonda C. 1160 do
2. Kcevavs Dharmapura 1162 do
25. Do Hlullekere v 1163 do .
6. Hoysalesvara® Tunxlnng;ul C. 1163 do
2. Narayana® Sutwur 1169 do
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TRMPLE

Someavara
Kesava
Brabmesvara
Buchesvara
Akkana-basti
Amritosvars
Siugesvara®
Santinatha-basti
Mahalingesvara*®
Chattesvara®
Trimurti
Aunekal
Kodanda-Rama
Siddhesvars
Mallosvars
Virabhadra
Andal
Sankaresvara®
Kenava®
Santinatha-basti*
Kirti-Narayana
Kodaresvara
Virabhadra
Sahasrakuta-banti
lavara

Do
Harihara
Mule-Singesvara®
Kallesvara®
Galsgesvara®
Somesvara
Kesava
Mallikarjuns

Lakehmi-Narasimha

i

HovsALA—contd
— e e
Pracn PERIOD RBIGN RrEMARKS

Suttur C. 1169 | Narasimba I . | Triple.
Nagamangala C. 1170 do do
Kikkori umn do
Koramangsala 173 do
Sravana Belgola 1182 | Ballala 11
Amritapura 1196 do
Hebbalala 1200 do
Jiusnathapura ... C. 1200 do
Mavuttanhalli C. 1200 do Triple.
Chatchattanhalli ... C. 1200 do do
Bandalike C. 1200 do do

do C. 1200 do do
Hirimsgalar C. 1200 do
Kodaksai C. 1200 do
Huliyar C. 1200 do
Grama .| C.1200 do Double
Belur C. 1200 do

do C. 1200 do
Angadi C. 1200 do
Bandalike .| C.1204 do
Heragu " 1218 do
Haleobid 129 do

do C. 1220 do
Arsikere 1220 do

do .| C.1220 do
Nanditavare C. 1220 do
Haribar 1224 | Narasimba II
Bellur 1224 do .. | Triple.
Hoggero 1232 do

do C. 1233 do
Harnballi " 1234 do -

do W] C.1934 do
Basaral " 1935 do « | Triple.
Nuggihalli _J 1349 | Somesvara do
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HovsaLa—ooncld.
TeurLe Praocs Pxriop Ruian REMARKS

63. Sadasiva Nuggiballi ... | C.1249 | Somesvars
68. Lakshmi-Narasimha Javagal 0. 1250 do Triple.
64. Isvara*® Budsuur C. 1250 do
65. Padmanabha’ do C. 1350 do
66. Panchalings Govindanhalli C. 1350 do Quintuple
67. Kesava® Nagalapura C. 1950 do
68. Kedaresvara® o do C. 1350 do
69. Mallesvara® Hulikal C. 1350 do
70. Keosava Tandaga e | O. 1950 do

71. Lakshmi-Naraysns ... Hpsaholalu C. 1350 do Triple.
7. Kosava Arslaguppe C. 1250 do
. Do Turuvekere e« | ©.1960 | Narasimha III .
74, Mule-Sankaresvara ... do C. 1960 do
76. Yoga-Madhava Settikere 1961 do Triple.
76, Kesava Somanathapur 1268 do do
T1. Madhavarays Bellur C. 1270 do do
78. Lakshmi-Narasimha Hole-Narsipur ... .| C. 1970 do do
. Do Vignasante 1966 do do
80. Balslingesvara® do O. 1266 do
81. Lakshmikants Hedatale 0. 1292 | Ballala I11
83. Nagaresvara® do 0. 1293 do

DRAVIDIAN.

1. Neandievara Nandi C. 600 | Govinda 111

9. Lakshmanesvars, eto. Avani C. 940 | Bira-Nolamba .
8. OChamundaraya-basti Sravaua Belgola ... C. 9680 | Rachamalla IV ..,

4, Kallosvars Arslsguppo C. 1091 | Tribhuvanamalls

8. Muktinathesvara® Binnamangala C. 1100 | Kulottunga-Chola .

8. Vaidyesvara Talkad C. 1100 do

7. Panochakuta-basti® Kambadahalli C. 1190 | Vishouvardhaua

Narasimha Agora C. 1120 do
Gangadharesvars ... Kaidals 1161 | Narasimha I .

10. Amara-Narayans Kaivara C. 1250 | Selvandsi-Devar




DRAVIDIAN—ooncld.
TeMPLE PrACE PBRIOD Rz Rexaznzs

11. Somesvars Kurndumale ©. 1950 | Ilavanji-Vasudeva-

raya.
18. Do Nidogal-durgs ... 1293 | Ganesvars-Deva .
18. Do Kolar C. 1800 | Ballala 111
14. Arkesvars Hale-Alur O. 1800 do
16. Vidyasankars Sringeri C. 1886 | Bukka 1
16. Mallikprjuna Paokajanhalli O. 1610 Kriil:nﬁDov.-

yo.

17. Aghoresvars Ikkeri C. 1660 | Ssnkanna-Nayaka I
18. Ranganatha Rangasthala C. 1600 | Palegars
19. Gaurisvars Yelandur 1664 | Mudda-Raja
20. Nilakanthesvars Jambitige 1788 | Somasekhara-

Nayska II.
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ARCHITECTURE AND SCULPTURE IN MYSORE.

No. 1I.

——pae

THE KESAVA TEMPLE AT BELUR.

—p——

ELUR, the head-quarters of the taluk of the same name in the Hassan
Distriot of the Mysore State, is situated in 13° 10’ N. and 75° 565’ E. on
the right bank of the Yagachi or Badari, the chief tributary of the river
Hémavati, which it joins at Gorir in the Hassan Taluk. It is 28 miles to
the south-west of Bapavar, a railway station on the Bangalore-Poona line,
and 24 miles to the north-west of Hassan on the Hassan-Chikmagalir road.
In old inscriptions it is named Beluhir and occasionally Vélapura, the
latter name occurring mostly in later inscriptions and literature. It was
once the capital (rdjadhant) of the Hoysala kings: Ballala I (1100-11086)
ruled the kingdom from the capital Beluhir,! and Vishpuvardhana, his
younger brother, ruled the kingdomn from the great city Vélapara in 1117*
and from the capital Beluhir in 1123." Owing to its sanctity the place is
described in later inscriptions as the modern earthly Vaikuntha (abhinava-
kshoni-Vaikuntha),! the great holy seat in the three worlds (trilska-maha-
sthanam) and the southern Benares (dakshina-Varanasi).® Some time after
the destruction by the Muhummadans of Dérasamudra or Halebiqd, the
celebrated Hoysala capital situated about 10 miles to the east of Bélir, the
la.t.t.er continued as the capltal of the Bélar kingdom which was conferred
' Epigraphia Camatwa. IV, NAgsma.nglls 32 and Ibsd., VI, Chikmagalar 160.
* Ibid., V, Belar 58 and 71.
' Ibid., Hassan 116.

‘ Mélkote in the Seringapatam Taluk is also known as bhsldka- Vaskuntha, Vaikuptha
being the abode of Vishpu.

* Ep. Car., V, Bélar 4.




2 ORIGIN OF THE TEMPLE

by the Vijayanagar king Krishna-Dava-Riya (1509-1529) on Era-Krishnappa-
Nayaka, the bearer of his hadapa or betel-bag, whose successors ruled over
the principality for nearly two centuries. In 1645 the Bélar kingdom was
overrun by the Ikkéri chief Sivappa-Nayaka and bestowed by him on Sri-
Ranga-Réaya, the fugitive king of Vijayanagar who had fled to him for
refuge. But in accordance with a treaty concluded between Mysore and
Ikkeéri in 1694 a portion of the principality was ceded to the Bélur chiefs
and the rest annexed to Mysore.

The Késava temple at Bélar is one of the most exquisite specimens of
the Hoysala style of architecture. From the fine inscription® on the east wall
to the left of the north entrance of the central hall (Plate XLIV) we learn
that the Hoyeala king Vishpuvardhana caused the temple to be erected and
sct up the god Vijaya-Narayana in it in A.D. 1117.  There is also a copper
plate inscription® in the temple which is similar in contents to the stone
inscription mentioned above and gives the same date. Recently an inscrip-
tion in the form of an anushtubh verse was discovered on the pedostal of
the god, which states that king Vishnu caused to be made the image of
Vijaya-Néariyana. It will thus be seen that the god is named Vijaya-
Niriyana in the old inscriptions, though popularly known as Késdava.
According to tradition this temple was erected by Vishnuvardhana to com-
memorate his conversion by the celebrated Vaishnava apostle Ramnanuja-
chérya from the Jaina to the Vaishnava faith. It is also stated that Rama-
nujacharya deputed his sister’s son and disciple Mudaliyindan to assist at the
consecration ceremony. Tradition also attributes to Vishnuvardhana the
consecration on onc and the same occasion of five images of Narayana
(paiicha-Narayana-pratishthe) at different places, namely, Bélir, Talkad,
Meélkote, Tonnuir and Gadag, though according to one account Gundlupét
comes in for the honor instead of Gadag. As we saw above, there is
epigraphical confirmation of the tradition with regard to Bélar. A fow
years ago, during the excavations that were conducted around the Kirti-
Narayana temple at Talkad, a Tamil inscription was disclosed on the basc-
ment of the temple recording that Vishnuvardhana, baving rooted out
Adnyaman, the (Jhol n viceroy, took possession of Ta.lkad and set up tl the god

B NS TSp VeV P

'Ep Car., V, Bélar 58.
! Balar 71.
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EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE 3

Kirti-Ndrayana in it in A.D. 1117." So, the tradition with regard to Talkid
is also borne out by epigraphical evidence. We have to await further re-
scarch with regard to the remaining places, each of which has an old temple
dedicated to Narayana.

The Kédava temple is situated in a court measuring 443’ 6" by 396'
and enclosed by a high wall, surrounded by several temples, minor shrines,
mantapas or halls, and subsidiary buildings (Plate 1I). Plate I gives a view
from the south of some of the buildings in the enclosure. The temple faces
east and has two mahadvaras or outer gates in the eastern front, of which
the one to the north is surmounted by a lofty gopura or tower. The other
gate, which is practically closed, is known as Ane-bagilu or the Elephant's
Gate. The Kesava temple mcasures 178" by 156’ and stands on a terrace,
about 3 feet high, which closely follows the cortour of the structure. Plate
IIT gives the south view of the temple and Plate IV the north view. The
building consists of a garbha-grila or adytum, a sukhandsi or vestibule, and
a navaranga or central hall which has three entrances on the cast (Plate V),
south, and north (Plate VI). The south entrance is known as “ the Friday
entrance” (Sukravara-bagilu) and the north, as ‘‘the Heavenly entrance ”
(Svargada-bagilu). On the jambs of the east doorway (Plate VII) are sculp-
tured Manmatha and his wife Rati; on those of the south, Hanuman and
Garuda; and on those of the north, female chauri-bearers. The pediments
bave a projecting panel with a figure of Garuda, above which, flanked by
makaras, we have on the east Narasimha killing the demon Hiranyakasipu,
on the south Varaha killing the demon Hiranyaksha, and on the north
Késava. The north and south peaiment.s are carved also on the back.

Beginning at the sides of the east doorway and extending beyond the
north and south doorways up to the outer wall of the sukhanasi, runs a
jagati or railed parapet, on which are sculptured in succession from the
bottom the following horizontal friczes : (1) clephants, (2) cornice with bead
work surmounted by simha-lalatas or lions’ heads at intervals, (3) scroll
work with figures in every convolution, (4) another cornice with bead work,
(5) small figurcs, mostly female, in projecting ornamental niches with inter-
vening figures of Yakshas seated inward; (8) delicately carved figures,
mostly female, between pilasters; (7) eaves with bead work with a thick

° ! Mysore Archaologscal Report for 1913, paras 32 and 83.

1



4 EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE

creeper .running along the cdge of the upper slopc adorned with mini-
ature turrets, lions and beautifully carved tiny figures ; and (8) a rail contain-
ing figures, sometimes indecent, in panels between double colummns surmount-
ed by an ornamental band. It is not known why the moulding above the
elephant frieze is left blank all round the temple. Plate VIII shows all the
friezes and Plate IX exhibits the railed parapet on an enlarged scale from
the second frieze upwards. The rail to the right of the cast entrance illus-
trates briofly the story of the Mahabharata up to the Salya-parva: Bhima
is reprcsented as worshipping Gapapati, and Duryédhana as falling unwit-
tingly at the feet of Krishna, his throne tumbling down by Krishpa pressing
his foot against the earth (Plate IX). Further on the frieze on the creeper
(7) shows bricfly scenes from the Radmayana. The same frieze exhibits here
and there exquisitely carved tiny seated figures playing on musical instru-
ments. Above the rail come pierced stone windows or perforated screens
surmounted by the eaves. These are 20 in number, 10 to the right and 10
to the left of the east doorway, running along the walls up to the left
and right sides of the south and north doorways. They form a charming
feature of this beautiful temple. Ten of them are sculptured with Puranic
scenes, and the rest decorated with geometrical designs (Plates X, XI and XII).
Of the sculptured ones, five of which are to the right and five to the left of
the east doorway, some details are given below :—

First screen to the right of the east doorway.—The sculptures on this are
said to represent the darbar of king Vishnuvardhana, who built the temple
in 1117 (Plate XIII). The top panel has the god Kééava in the centre flanked
by chauri-bearers as well as Hanuman and Garuda. The middle panel
shows the king scated in the centre with his queen to the left. He holds a
sword in the right hand and a flower in the left. Behind the queen stands
a female attendant. To the right of the king, a little to the front, are two
seated gurus or religious teachers, one of them with his hand in the teaching
pose, with two disciples at the back. There are also several officers,
attendants, eto., in the group. Some of the figures, including the royal
couple, have large ear-lobes with ornaments. The bottom panel has rearing
lions with riders as also seated lions.

Third screen.—We have on this the representation of the story of Bali,
the demon king, making a gift to Vamana, the Dwarf incarnation of
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EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE 5

Vishpu. The top panel shows Lakshminariyana flanked by Hanuman and
Garuda. In the middle panel we see Trivikrama in the centre with his
uplifted foot which is washed by Brahma. To his right stands Bali with
folded hands, and to his left two figures of Garuda, one with folded hands
and the other dragging Sukrachirya, the minister and preceptor of Bali.
The lower panel represents Bali's darbar, his making the gift, etc.

Eighth screen—In the top panel we have Lakshminarayana, with
attendants as in the first screen. The middle panel shows Krishpa as
Kaliyamardana or the punisher of the serpent Kailiya with two figures with
folded hands at the sides, while the lower one represents a music party.

Ninth screen.—The first panel has Vishpu flanked as usual by Hanu-
mén and Garuda. The second shows Siva seated on Nandi, flanked by
Ganapati and Subrahmanya and further on by warriors holding flags, swords
and shields. The third has the dikpalakas or regents of the directions Indra
to Kubéra scated on their vehicles, while the fourth represents a battle scene.

Tenth screen—Here we have the representation of the story of
Prahldda (Plate XIV). The centre of the upper panel is occupicd by a figure
of Lakshminiriyana flanked by Garuda and another figure which is not
Hanuman. The middle panel has a figure of Narasimha killing Hiranya-
kadipu, with Garuda and Hanumadn at the sides. The lower panel shows
four scated figures of Prahlada with folded hands undergoing various kinds
of torture. Incidentally it may be mentioned here that all the four figures
of Prahlada wear Tenkale namap: on their forecheads. This is of some
interest as proving the antiquity of this Srivaishnava mark, as we shall see
further on that the perforated screens of this temple were caused to be
made by Balldla 11 (1173—1220), the grandson of Vishnuvardhana.

Iirst screen to the left of the east dvorway.-- This is mostly similar to
the first screen to the right (Plate XV). It is said to represent the darbar of
king Narasimha I, the son of Vishpuvardhana. The top panel shows Yoga-
Narasimha flanked by chauri-bearers as well as Hanuman and Garuda. The
middle panel has the king seated in the centre with his queen to the left.
He holds a sword in the right hand and a flower in the left. At the left end
are seen three scated figures with folded hands wearing coats. 'T'hese inay
represent officers.  There are also several attendants in the group. The
bottom panel has lions like the first screen to the right.



6 EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE

Fourth screen.—The first panel has a seated figure of Vishpu, while the
second illustrates the story of the churning of the milk ocean.

Seventh screen.—The upper panel has Vishnu flanked as usual by
Hanumin and Garuda. The second depicts the killing of Kamsa by
Krishpa, while the third delineates his killing the elephant Kuvalaydpida and
his contest with the wrestler Chapiira. The fourth shows him as playing
on the flute, the notes of which are intently listened to not omly by the
cows but also by the wild beasts.

Ninth screen.—This shows a figure of Ranganatha reclining on a
beautifully carved serpent.

Tenth screen.—The top panel has Lakshminarayana flanked by chauri-
bearers. In the second we sec Hanuman and Garuda fighting over what
looks like a linga placed between them. Both of them have laid their hands
on it. The linga is split into two halves by the discus of Vishpu seated
above. The combatants seem to have exchanged their head-dresses during
the fight: we see Hanuman wearing the crown of Garuda.

The pillars at the sides of every screen have on their capitals figures
standing out supporting the eaves. These bracket figures, which are mostly
female, are wonderful works of art. They are called madanakai figures in
Kannada. Two of them represent Durgd and three are huntresses, one
bearing & bow and the others shooting birds with arrows. Most of the
other figures are either dancing or playing on musical instruments or dres-
sing or decorating themselves. Several of them are represented as wearing
breeches. Once there were forty of them around the temple, and it is fortu-
nate that only two are now missing. Four of these can be seen on Plate V,
four on Plate VI, and two each on Plates XII, XIII and XV. Out of these
ten figures, six are shown separately on Plate XVI. Of the 88 figures now
standing around the temple, it is interesting to note that 18 are signed
images, i.¢., they bear inscriptions on their pedestals giving the names of the
artists who executed them. The majority of the madanakas figures are also
represented in miniature in the sixth frieze of the railed parapet.

Beyond the jagati or railed parapet we have on the walls around the
temple 80 large images, of which only 19 are female. The images are not in
a continuous row as in other temples of this style, e.g., the Késava temple
at Somanédthapir, but stand apart from one another with some interval
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EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE 7

between them. The figures representing gods and goddesses may be
analysed thus:—Vishnu 82, the same as Lakshminarayana 2, as Vamana 1,
as Narasimha 2, as Variaha 2, as Rangandtha 1, and as Balarima 1; Siva
and Parvati, standing, 1; Siva as the destroyer of Andhakasura and Gajasura
3; Harihara 2; Surya 4; Parvati including Durgd and Mahishisuramardini
6; Bhairava 2; Manmatha and Rati 1; also one each of Ganpésa, Brahma,
Sarasvati, Garuda and Chandra. There are also figures of Ravana, Daksha,
Arjuna, Bali and Sukriachirya. Two of the large images on the walls,
Narasimha in the south-west and Ranganitha in the north-cast, arc
enshrined in ugly structures which mar the beauty of the temple. But from
the inscriptions Bélur 25 and 30 we learn that these structures were put up
in about 1173 and 1588 respectively. There are also figures of gods and
goddesses in the third, fifth and sixth friezes of the railed parapet. Four of
the large images on the west wall, two representing Vishnu, one Sarasvati
and one Manmatha with Rati, are shown on Plate XVII.

Attached to the outer walls of the garbha-grika in the three directions
are three elegantly executed car-like niches in two storeys cnshrining
Vishnu figures. Kach storey is adorned with a railed parapet. On the
niches are sculptured fromn the bottom upwards these friezes-—(1) clephants,
(2) lions, (3) horsemnen, (4) turretted pilasters, and (5) a rail with figures, mostly
female, between double columns. Plate XVIII shows the north niche. The
outer walls of both the storeys have figures on them. The south niche has
on the left outer wall Vishnu belqw and Sarasvati above ; and on the right
wall Vishnu below and a sixteen-armed Nariyana seated on a lotus above,
a four-armed Garuda supporting the lotus with two hands, the other two
being folded. The wost niche shows on the left wall Vishnu below and
Bhima attacking Bhagadatta’s elephant above; and on the right wall a
female figure holding a vessel in the left hand and a Hlower in the right
hand with Garuda to the right, below, and Sarasvati and another female
figure above. The Vishnu figure inside is a signed image. 'The left wall of the
north niche shows below a female figure with two children at the sides said
to represent Krishpa and Balaraima. The child to the right holds a young
lion with a rope. May it represent Bharata, Sakuntald’s son? The upper
portion has a female figure. The right wall of the same niche has a female
figure below and Durgé above.



8 EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE

A few interesting sculptures in the temple may be noticed here :—Bala-
rama with a discus in the left hand and a plough in the right; Chandra
holding kumudas or water-lilics in both the hands; and Narasimha with
sixteen hands killing Hiranyakasipu, with Kayadhu, the mother of Prahla-
da, and Garuda at the sides. The last madanakai figure to the left of
the north doorway, which represents a huntress, is flanked by two small fi-
gures, of which the one to the left is represented as carrying a bamboo lath
to the ends of which are tied a deer and a crane shot in the chase; while
the other gets a thorn removed from the leg by a seated figure which uses a
needle for the purpose. The second madanakai figure to the right of the
east doorway hoids in its hand betel leaves which are true to nature, while
the small figure at its left side squirts scented water with a syringe. In the
creeper-like canopy of the figure to the left of the north doorway is sculptur-
ed on a fruit a fly, perfect in every detail, on which a lizard is preparing
to pounce. In the rail or eighth frieze are seen—to the right of the north
doorway a king and his queen seated witnessing a wrestling match ; also six
Pandarams or Saiva devotees with their heads covered; to the left of the
same doorway a man with a long coat, hood and kammarband or belt in
the act of cutting off his head before & seated goddess (perhaps Durga) who
stops him; and to the right of the north-east ugly structure enshrining Ran-
gandtha a chain of destruction—a double-headed eagle or gandabherunda
attacking a darabha, which attacks a lion, which in its turnattacks an ele-
phant, the latter seizing a snake which is in the act of swallowing a rat—
with the figure of a sage wondering at the sight. In the sixth frieze, to the
left of the north doorway is observed a female figure stripping itself on find-
ing & lizard in the cloth, the lizard being shown to the left. Similarly, one
of the madanakai figures, the second figure to the right of the north doorway
(Plate VI), is represented as stripping itself on finding a scorpion in the
cloth, the scorpion being shown on the base. But people attribute some
mysterious power to the figure in the sixth frieze and believe that pouring oil
over it wards off the evil effects of a lizard falling on the body. It may
be remarked in passing that about sixty-eight figures in this frieze are miss-
ing. In the fifth fricze, to the left of the south doorway is scen a female
figure drawing a picture on a board; also a figure of the nude Mohini along
with that of Dakshindmaurti dressed in a check long coat with kammarband.
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EXTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE 9

In the third frieze are seen two figures carrying a bamboo lath on the shoul-
ders with dead game tied at the ends, figures shooting with guus and a fi-
gure of Jina.

At the sides in front of all the three entrances there are two fine pavi-
lions with two more opposite to them at some distance on a lower level, the
upper ones containing as a rule figures of Vishnu and the lower ones those of
Bhairava, Mahishasuramardini and so forth. These pavilions have a frieze
of elephants on the base. Plate XIX gives tho front view of the upper pa-
vilion to the left of the east entrance and Plate XX a side view of that to
the right. There arc likewise three more pavilions on a lower level opposite
to the three car-like niches around the garbha-grika. These have three
friezes—elephants, lions and horsemen—on the base. All the nine lower
pavilions have figures inside, though in sowme cases the original figures have
been replaced by modern ones. The left lower pavilion at the cast entrance
has Bhairava and the right, Durgé; the left pavilion at the south entranco
has Tandavésvara, which is not the original figure, and the right, Brahma-
ni with three faces and the swan emblem ; and the left pavilion at the north
entrance has Vishpu, not the original figure, and the righi, Mahishasura-
mardini. The one opposite to the south car-like niche has Durga, that
opposita to the west niche Vaishnavi, and that opposite to the north niche
Ganapati, not the original figure. Each doorway has at tho sides the Hoy-
sala crest, t.e., a figure of Sala, the progenitor of the Hoysala family,
stabbing a tiger. Plate XX shows one of these figures.

The navaranga or central hall 4ppears to have been originally left open
as in the Kirti-Nariyana temple at Talkdd' without door-frames and screens.
In the latter teinple the walls subsequently raised conceal the inscriptions
on the sides of several of the pillars. The door-frames of the navaranga of
the Béliar temple are surely of a subsequent period as evidenced by the muti-
lation of the side pillars and the concealment of the inscriptions on them
by the figures on the jambs. This fact is borne out by the inscription Be-
lar 72 which tells us that the door-frames, doors and porforated scrcens
were caused to be made by Ballala IT (1173-1220), the grandson of Vishnu-

vardhana. The mukha-mantapa or hall in front of the Késava temple, known
as t.hc bali-mantapa, is a later structure. It is also called Nagmﬁyakas

- e ——— e e —— -
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10 INTERIOR OF THE TEMPLE

mantapa owing to a chief of that name having built it. It was in existence
before 15667, since Bélar 28 records a grant in that year for taking the god
to the mantapa.

The work inside the Késava temple is even finer in some respects than
that outside. The image of Kééava, or Vijaya-Nardyana as it is named in
the inscriptions, is a very handsome figure, about 6 feet high with prabdhe
or halo, standing on a pedestal, about 3 feet high, flanked by consorts. It
has four hands, the upper two holding a discus and a conch and the lower
two, a lotus and a mace. The prabha has the ten avatdaras or incarna-
tions of Vishnu sculptured on it. The sukhanasi doorway, flanked by dvara-
palakas or doorkeepers, is elegantly executed (Plate XXI). Its pediment,
with a figure of Lakshminarayana in the centre, shows excellént filigree
work. The makaras at the sides bear Varuna and his consort on the back.
The four pillars in the sukhanasi are later additions. According to Bélar
52 they were set up in 1881 to support the dilapidated roof by order of the
Vijayanagar king Harihara II by his minister Kampanna. The beam in
front of the sukhanasi doorway has sculptured on it the twenty-four martis
or forms of Vishnu. The navaranga bas raised verandas on both sides of
the three entrances. The pillars, which are artistically cxecuted, are of
three different sizes, and, with the exception of the central four, all differ
from one another in design. The arrangement of the pillars enhances the
beauty of the structure. Plate XXII gives the view of a portion of the na-
varanga with its pillars. Two pillars on the verandas at the sides of the east
entrance are shown on Plate XXIII. Two other pillars in the navaranga
deserve special notice. The well-known Narasimha pillar (Plate XXIV), which
apparently used formerly to revolve, is carved with minute figures all round
from the top to the bottom. One of the figures, a tiny bull, is known as
kadale-basava, because it is of the size of a seed of the Bengal gram (kada-
le). A small space on the south face of the pillar is said to have been left
blank by the artist who prepared the pillar as a challenge to any artist who
can appropriately fill it up. The other pillar, standing to the right of the
sukhanasi doorway, shows marvellous filigree work (Plate XXV). It is car-
ved with a female figure in front and has eight vertical bands with fine scroll
work the convolutions of which show delicately executed figures ropre-
senting the Hindu triad of gods, the ten incarnations of Vishpu, the
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INTERIOR OF THE TEMPLR 11

ashta-dikpalakas or regents of the eight directions and so forth. There are
also lions represented with the faces of other animals. This is perbaps the
most beautiful pillar in the temple.

The four central pillars support a large domed ociling, about 10 feet in
diameter and 6 feet deep, which is a grand piece of artistic workmanship
remarkabla for richness of ornamentation and elaboration of details. Plate
XXVI shows a portion of it.' The lotus bud depending from the top has
Brahma, Vishpu and Siva sculptured on it and the bottow frieze illustrates
scenes from the Ramayana. Thero are four exquisitely carved fomale mada-
nakai figures standing on the capitals of the four central pillars. Of these,
three are signed images. The one on the south-east pillar (Plato XX VII) has
& parrot seated on the hand. The bracelot on the hand of this figure can be
moved up and down. From the inscription on the pedestal of the image on
the south-west pillar (Plate XXVIII) we learn that it represents dancing
Sarasvati. The head ornament of this figure can be moved. The figure on the
north-east pillar (Plate XXIX) is shown as dressing the hair and the one on
the north-west pillar (Plate XXX) as dancing. The remaining ceilings in the
navaranga are mostly flat and oblong in shape. Those in front of the en-
trances havo the ashia-dikpalakas sculptured on three separate panels. One of
the ceilings at the east entrance has Narasimha killing Hiranyakasipu in the
centre (Plate XXXI), the one corresponding to it at the south, Varaha, and
that at the north, Késava. It will be noticed that these figures are the same as
those carved on the pediments of the respective doorways. Thae ceilings over
the verandas show better work than those at the entrances. The west veranda
at the south entrance has a frieze dépicting socenes from the Ramayana.

As stated before, eighteen of the bracket or madanakai figures around the
temple, three madanakai figures in the navaranga and the Vishnu figure in the
west oar-like niche bear inscribed on their pedestals the nameos of the artists
who prepared them. Such labels have also been noticed in the Késava tewple
at Sém&nﬁ.thapﬁr Among the names ot‘ t;he artists mscnbud in the Kcésava

' There is a raftor pub across the oelhng lor swinging tho utsava- vcgraha or procoamona.l
image of the temple on certain occasions. Aas this is not only an eye-sore but also a dangor
#0 the safety of the ceiling, it has to be removod and some other arrangement made to swing
she god.

* The Ksbava Templs at Somandthapsr, page 5.



12 THE SCULPTORS AND SBIGNED IMAGES

temple at Bélir may be montioned Dasdja, his son Chavana, Chikka Hampa,
Malliyana, Padari Malloja, Kencha Malliyanna, Masada and Négoja. It is
interesting to note that somoe of the labels give a few details about the sculp-
tors, such as their native places, parentage, characteristic titles and so forth.
Dasoja and his son Chavana belonged to Balligrame, i.c., Belgdmi in the
Shikarpur Taluk of the Shimoga District. The former had the title “smiter
of the crowd of titled sculptors” (biruda-ravari-gondala-badiva) and the latter
the title “a Siva to the Cupids titled sculptors” (biruda ravari-Madana-
Mahesa). Chavana is also described as a bee at the lotus feet of the god
Dharmasvara of Balligrame and is stated to have done his work at the instance
of Kaéavadava. A sccond title, “a bherunda to the sarabhas rival sculptors”
(machharipa-ravari-sarabha-bherunda), is also applied to him. Of Chikka
Hampa it is stated that he was Tribhuvanamalla-Déva’s artist, that he
prepared some of the images in the manfapa or hall of the god Vijaya-
Narayana built by Hoysala Bitti-Dava (or Vishpuvardhana), that he was
the son of In&ja and that he had the title *champion over rival sculptors’”
(machcharipa-ravarigala ganda). Malliyana calls himnself the artist of the
mah&-mandalésvara Tribhuvanamalla capturer of Talakadu bhujabala-Vira-
Ganga-Hoysala-Déva (Vishnuvardhana), and bore the titles “a tiger among
sculptors” (ravari-puli) and “‘a thunderbolt to the mountains rival titled
scluptors” (machcharipa-biruda-ravari-giri-vajradanda). 1t is stated of
Padari Malloja that he was the son-in-law or sister’s son (aliya) of Vadoja of
Nalvatubida and had the title ‘“a pair of large scissors to the necks of titled
sculptors” (biruda-rivari-gala-gandagattari). Nagoja is described as the artist
of the god Svayambhu-Trikatéévara of Gadugu (Gadag), as the delighter of
the hearts of the good and as a bee at the lotus feet of Sarasvati. He was
the son of Katoja and bore the title “? confounder of sculptors” (ravari-
jagadala). Masada was the son of Yallappa. Two more labels give some
details without naming the artists. One of them styles the artist the
Viévakarma of the Kali age and applies to him the titles “a lion to the
elephants titled sculptors” (biruda-ravaribha-kanthirava) and “smiter of the
crowd of titled sculptors.” e belonged to Lokkigupdi. The other label
describes the artist as a pupil (mant) of Tribhuvanamalladéva of the great
agrahara (or rent-froe village) Behar in the Kuntala country. Another label
in which the name of the artist is effaced states that he was the son-in-law
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or sister’s son of Chaloja of Nalvatubida and had the title ‘“‘smiter of
the crowd of titled sculptors.” This was also the title of Dasoja, and it is
just possible that this and the other label noticed above giving the same
title may refer to the same artist.

Four images bear the signature of Dasoja, four of his son Chavana, three
of Malliyana, two of Chikka Hampa, and one cach of Padari Malloja, Kencha
Malliyanna, Masada and Nagoja. The two upper figures on Plate XVI,
which are also seen on Plate XIT, and the figures on Plates XXVI1II and
XXIX represent four such signed images : the first figure on Plate X VI, which
represents a huntress, and the figure on Plate XXIX heing the work of Dasoja,
and the second figure on Plate XVI with a monkey pulling at its cloth and the
figure on Plate XXVITI, that of his son Chavana. The figure on Plate XXVII
18 also a signed image; but the lubel does not name the artist—-it merely states
that he was a pupil of Tribhuvanamalladéva of Behurin the Kuntala country.
The period of all these sculptors is about 1117, the year in which the god was
sct up in the temple.  There are likewise four more signed images in the build-
ings outside the Késava temple, the names of the sculptors being Bhandari
Madhuvanna, Madhuvanna, Béchama and Gumma Birapa. 1t is very proba-
ble that these artists belong to a later period. Two of these images, Adhira-
saktiand Vénugopala, executed by Bhandari Madhuvanna and Madhuvanpa
respectively, are exhibited on Plate XXXIT.

A few words may now be said about the other temples and buildings in
the enclosure. The Kappe-Chennigariya temple, situated to the south of
the Késava temple, measures 124’ byu 105° and has two cells with entrances
opposite to each (Plate 11). The chicf cell with the figure of Kappe-Chen-
nigardya has a sukhanasi and faces east, while the other with a figure of
Vénugopila faces north.  Plate XXXIII gives the east view of the temple.
The sukhandsi doorway (Plate XXX1V) is well executed and its pediment,
like that of the saine doorway in the Késava temple, has a figure of Lakshmi-
narayana flanked by makaras. Here, however, Varunpais represented as scated
under a canopy leaning against the makara and not as riding it as there.
The pediment of the doorway of the other cell has a figure of Narasimha kill-
ing Hiranyakasipu flanked on cither side by a makara, a Vishpu figure and an
elephant. The niches at the sides of the sukhanasi doorway enshrine figures
of Lakshmindrayana, while those at the sides of the other cell have figures
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of Sarasvati and Ganapati. Opposite to the Sarasvati niche is another with
a figuro of Mahishasuramardini (Plate XXXV). The ceilings are elegantly
oarved. Two of them are shown on Plates XXXVI and XXXVII. The four
oentral pillars of the navaranga had once four madanakai figures each on their
capitals, but now there arc only three left. As in the Kédava temple there are
raised verandas on both sides of the entrances. The outer walls have no
sculptures. There are three niches in the three directions around the garbha-
grihka of the chief cell. The god Kappe-Chennigardya is so named because
according to tradition there was found in a cavity near the navel of the image
a kappe or frog. Chennigardya is a popular name of Chenna-Kééava or the
beautiful Késava. The following is the tradition referred to above;—

Kaidala, a village in the Tumkir Taluk, which formerly bore the name
of Kridapura and was the capital of a state, was the native place of the
famous architect and sculptor Jakandchari. His career began while Nripa-
Raya was ruling in Kridapura. He then loft his native place and, entering
the service of various courts, produced the works by which his fame is to
this day upheld.  After his departure, ason, Dankan&chari, was born to
him, who when grown up, sct out in search of his father, neither having
ever scen the other. At Bélur the young man found the Ké§ava temple in
course of erection and remarked that the image of Chennigariya had a
blemish. As this would be a bar to the image being made an object of
worship, the sculptor, who was no other than Jakapéachari himself, hastily
vowed to cut off his right hand if any defect could be found in an image he
had carved. To test the matter the figure was covered with sandal paste,
which dried on every part except around the navel. In this on examination
was found a cavity the son had detected, containing a frog and some sand
and water. Mortifiod at the result, Jakandchari cut off his right hand, and
enquirics as to who his critic was, led to the unexpected discovery of their
mutual relationship. Subsequently Jakandchdri was directed in a vision to
dedicate a temple to the god Késava in Kriddpura, his native place. Thither
he accordingly returned, and no sooncr was the temple completed than his
right hand was restored.  In commemoration of this incident the place has
ever since been called Kaidala, the restored hand.

On & pillar of the mahadvara or outer gate of the KéSava temple at
Kaiddla is a figure, about 1} feet high, standing with folded hands wearing
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OTHER TEMPLES AND BUILDINGS IN THE ENCLOSURE 15

an utlartyam or upper cloth and armed with a dagger, which is said to
represent Jakanachiri who built the temple. But this tradition does- not
appear to be worthy of credence. The existence of a sculptor named
Jakandchéri, who is supposed to have built all the artistic structures of
different periods in Mysore and elsewhere, is itself doubtful, seeing that no
such name has been met with in any of the ornate buildings so far examined,
though the names of numerous other sculptors have been noticed. Further,
the expression Kaidala does not by any means convey the sense ‘‘a restored
hand” in Kannada, though both the words kai and tala mean ‘“a hand.
Again, the name of the village being Kaiddla with a long a, the supposed
meaning of Kaidala, even if correct, cannot be attached to it. It is very
likely that the figure on the pillar, referred to above, represents a chief who
caused the temple or the mahadvara to be crected.

An inscription newly discovered on the pedestal of the image of Kappe-
Chennigaridya, which consists of an anushtubh verse, states that the image
was set up by Santale, the seinor queen of Vishpuvardhana. The incomplete
inscription Bélir 16 on the wall to the left of the north entrance of the
Kappe-Chennigardya temple, which is similar in contents, as far as it goes,
to Balir 568 and 71 recording the consecration of the image of Kasava
(Vijaya-Nariyapa), and which ends with the praises of queen Santala-Davi
was evidently intended to record the consecration of Kappe-Chennigaraya-
Opposite to this temple, near the Elephant’s Gate, stands a stone slab carved
with a male and a female figure standing side by side with folded hands under
an ornamental canopy (Plate XXXVIII). The rich dress and the ornaments
with which they are decorated ewdently indicate high rank. The male
figure wears a cone-shaped cap, partly covering the ears, and a robe extending
down to the feet with an uftariyam thrown over it. It also wears large
earrings with four ? diamonds in each. The female figure is also richly
dressed and ornamented. Unfortunately, the faces of the figures are injured,
though the other parts are intact. Tt is highly probable that the fgures
represent Vishnuvardhana and his queen Santale, who set up respectively
the gods Vijaya-Nardyana and Kappe-Chennigardya. The Vira-Nardyana
temple to the west of the Késava temple is a small neat building measuring
70' by 66'. It consists of a garbha-griha, a sukhanasi and a navaranga, and
has a row of large images on the outer walls. Plate XXXIX gives the east
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view of the temple. The number of large images is 59, of which 36 are
female. The deities represented are Vishpu, Siva, Brahma, Parvati, Saras-
vati and Bhairava. The sculptures on the north wall representing Bhima's
fight with Bhagadatta and his elephant are very well executed. The west
wall shows a peculiar standing figure with three crowned heads. It is richly
ornamented and holds a discus and a conch in the upper hands, the other
hands being broken. It does not seem to represent Dattdtrdya. The in-
scription Bélir 58, of 1117, registers grants for the three gods Vijaya-
Nardyana, Chenna-Ké&sava or Chennigardya and Lakshmindrdyana. It is
probable that the third god is identical with the image in this temple,
though it is now known as the Vira-Nardyana temple. It will thus be seen
that the three temples—the Késava, the Kappe-Chennigardya and the Vira-
Nitaya.na.-—belong to about the same period.

The garbha-griha, surmounted by a tower, of the temple of the goddess
Somandyaki situated to the south-west of the Késava temple is also popu-
larly assigned to the same period (Plate I, left end). The front portion of
this temple is said to be a later structure built by & member of the Dalavayi
family of Kalale. The tower of the Kééava temple, which is no longer in
existence, was, it is said, exactly like that of the Somaniyaki temple, only
much larger in size. According to Fergusson the upper part of the tower
was anomalous'. But this anomaly can easily be accounted for by the
vicissitudes through which the original tower had passed. From Bealar 24
we learn that the wood work of the tower having rotted and fallen, it was
repaired in 1298 by order of the great minister Khandeyariya Someya-
danniayaka. The temple suffered injury at the time of the Muhammadan
invasion in 1310, and is said to have been shut up till the time of the
Vijayanagar king Harihara II (1377-1404). Balir 63 tells us that in 1387
the tower was repaired and a gold kalada or finial fixed on it when Muddapa
was the minister of Harihara II. According to Bélur 64 and 65, the same
work was done again in 1736 during the rule of the Mysore king Krishna-
Réja and the minister Nanja-Réja, and once again in 1774 when the Mysore
king Chama-Réja and Navab Bahadar Haider Ali ruled the earth. With so
many vicissitudes it is no wonder that the style of the tower was incon-
gruous. It has been a frequent source of trouble since, and been rebuilt, but
has now disappeared altogether.

' History of Indsan and Eastern Architecture, I, 440.
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OTHER TEMPLES AND BUILDINGS IN THE ENCLOSURE 17

The temple of the goddess Andal, situated to the north-west of the
K&sava temple, has a row of large images on the outer walls (Plate XL). The
oasement and the top have also here and there friezes of elephants, scroll
work and Puranic scenes. The structure has the appearance of having been
built with the materials belonging to somc ruined temple of an earlier period.
The number of large images on the outer walls is 31, of which 19 are female.
The canopies over the figures, which differ from one another, show elegant
workmanship. Besides the usual deities, Lakshmi and Mohini are also
represcnted here. Two of the figures on the south wall are signed images
executed by Bachama and Madhuvappa. The handiwork of Madhuvanna,
which is a figure of Vépugopala, is shown on Plate XXXII. Plate XLI
shows a fine figure of Lakshminirdyana flanked by female chauri-bearers on
the same wall. ’

Other temples in the enclosure are thoee of Jiyar, the Alvirs, Nara-
simha and Rama, situated in a line to the east of the Kappe-Chennigaraya
temple, and those of Désikar, Krishna, Bhashyakara or Ramanujacharya
and Anjanéya to the east of the Andal temple. Several of these are later
additions. Jiyar, also known as Varavara-muni and Manavala-mamuni, was
a Srivaishnava teacher and author who flourished in the 14th and 15th
centuries. On the south wall of the Jiyar temple is a figure of Adharasakti
executed by Bhandari Madhuvanna, which is shown on Plate XXXII. The
Alvars are Srivaishpava saints who composed Tamil hymns in praise of
Vishnu known as the Nalayira-prabandham consisting of nearly four
thousand stanzas. On the basement of the tomple of the Alvirs, both inside
and outside, runs a frieze representinyg scenes from the Ramayana. Daésikar,
also known as Vadantacharya, was a Srivaishpava teacher and author who
lived in the 13th and 14th centuries.

Of the rcmaining structures in the enclosure, the building in the north-
west corner was, according to Bélar 20, erected in 1180 by Ballala II to
serve a8 a kottdara or granary. Woe also learn from Belar 2 and 72 that he
built the fine pond known as Vasudéva-sarovara situated in the north-east
corner. At the entrance to this pond are two clephants at the sides, and
two pavilions to the north and south. The manfapa to the south of the
Vira-Néarayapa temple is known as the Vahana-mantapa, because the temple
vehicles (vahanas) are kept there. One of its pillars bears an inscrigtion,
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Balar 18, recording a grant in 1292 by the Hoysala king Ballala III, but
as the grant relates to a Siva temple in some other place it is doubtful if the
mantapa is of this period. The mantapa to the south-cast of the Késava
temple, known as the Suvarna-mantapa or Kalyana-mantapa, which has a
figure of Sugriva in it, is said to have been built by the Mysore king
Kanthirava-Narasa-Raja-Odeyar (1638-1659). The building to the south
of the north outer gate is the ugrana or storchouse and the one adjacent to
it, the pakasale or kitchen. Both have a finc ceiling in front (Plates X LII
and XLIII). Belur 72 attributes the ercetion of the kitchen, as also of the
enclosing wall, to Balldla TI. Attached to the south of the kitchen is the
yagasale or the place for offering oblations in the fire, which, according to
Beélar 13, was built in 1484 by Lakkhanna-nayaka, son of Madhuvarasa-nayaka,
of Muttagadahdlu. It is probable that Ballila I1I who built the enclosing wall
(Belar 72) may have also built a gipura or large tower over the north outer
gate. At any rate there was a gopura to the temple before 1397, since we
learn from Bélar 3 that the formor gopura having been dismantled and burnt
by Ganga-Salar, the Turuka of Kalburga, the present one was rebuilt with
seven storeys in that ycar by Gunda-dandadhipa, the minister of the Vijaya-
nagar king Harihara II. According to tho inscriptions the affairs of
the Kasava temple were managed by a committee of 88 Srivaishnavas.
The annual festival of the god KaSava takes place in April, and it
is worthy of note that for threo days during the festival the Panchamas
have the privilege of entering the courtyard of the temple to pay homage
to the god. They also present to the god a pair of large leather sandals once
in two or three years. These arc kept in the temple and are supposed to be
used by the god. When they are worn out, the Panchamas, to whom the
fact is revealed in a dream, preparc new ones with great devotion and cere-
monial purity and offer them to the god. 'The other temples in the Stato
which the Panchamas are allowed to enter during the annual festival are the
Narayanasvami temple at Meélkote in the Seringapatam Taluk and the
Ranganathasvdmi temple on the Biligirirangan Hills in the Yelandir Taluk.
They likewise present sandals to the gods in these places.

We may now proceed to say a few words about the inscriptions relating
to the temple. Several of them have already been briefly referred to. The
most important of these epigraphs is Bélar 58, which records the consecration
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of the temple in 1117 by Vishpuvardhana (Plate XLIV.) Itis a long insorip-
tion of 85 lines consisting of Sanskrit and Kannada stanzas and Kannada
prose passages which are almost wholly made up of Sanskrit words. After
an invocatory verse in praise of Kééava and 8iva, the epigraph proceeds to
give the usual account of the rise of the Yadu race and the Hoysalas and
their genealogy down to Vishnuvardhana who is praised at considerable
length. Of Vinayadityus it is stated ' that when he set forth for war the
Konkanigas, saying “ the water of his sword will drown us,” scattered pell-
mell in every direction and that the hill chiefs, dreading his valour, came
and placed their heads at his lotus feet. His queen was Keleyabbe. Their
son was KEreganga. The celebrated Dhara, the chief city of the valiant
Malava kings, which Bhoja by victory over hostile kings bad enlarged, he
took as if the preliminary sip (apsdana) before feasting on the dominions of
his enemies. He also burnt Bhdja’s principal fortresses. The burning of
Baleya-pattana on the sea-shore by the flames of Ereganga’s anger, recalled
to mind the appearance of the waves of the sea when consumed by Rama's
fiery arrow. His queen was Echala-Dévi. They had three sons—Ballala,
Vishnu and Udayédditya. Breaking with their swords the pride of Pandya,
who opposed them with arrogance, Visbnu and Balla]a seized the goddess of
his sovereignty. In Dérasamudra they defeated the army of Jagadéva and
captured his treasury. His god being Mah&sa, his wife the goddess of Vic-
tory, the group of his dependants the whole earth, his relations by marriage
his equals—the world-renowned Balld]a was truly great.

Victorious is Vishnu-Daéva, enjoyer of learned discourses in the assembly
of clever scholars, a student of the Bharata-éastra, a favorite of the goddess
of Victory and a constant worshipper of Purushoéttama. First taking into
his arms the goddess of the Poysala kingdom, he brought all the points of
the compass under his command, and capturing Talakddu, became the first
to the Ganga kingdom. He burnt the chief city of the Gangas. In order
that Rajéndra-Chola, disgusted at the water of the Kavéri suddenly becom-
ing polluted, should be driven to the use of water from wells in the vicinity,
Vishnu by the power of his arm made the hostile army drown in the stream
of the river, and caused his own valour to shine forth. Then follow long

. ——- —— e ey
— e e -

' In what follows only important facts are noticed, mere laudations being omithg..
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strings of cpithets applied to Vishnuvardhana, his queen Santala-Dévi, the
Kesava temple and the god Kesava.

When the maha-mandalésvara who has acquired the band of five great
instruments, lord of the excellent city of Dvaravati, the foundation pillar of
the palace kingly dharma adorned with the finial the Yadu race, obtainer of
boons from Vasantikideévi, delighter in bowing to the lotus feet of Mukunda,
(and with numerous other epithets, among which are), proficient in the art
of poetry music logic grainmar the Vadas and the Puranas, lord of Gandagiri,
an untimely thunderbolt in splitting the rock Pandya, terrifier of the
Tulu king, a Bhairava in destroying the army of Jagaddsva, a lion to the
elephant Somedvara, displayer of his valour before Manpikyadadvi of the
Chakrakiita throne, destroyer of the pride of Adiyama, a gale in overturn-
ing the tree Narasinhabrahma, gratifier of the ydginis or female spirits with
draughts of blood out of the skull-cup of Kalapila, a Garuda to the serpent
Chengiri, king of the hill chiefs, a fierce elephant in destroying the garden
Irungéla, a Vainya in shaking with his bow the mountain Chengiri Permala,
establisher with his army of Patti-Permala, capturer .of Talavanapura
(Talkad) the Kongu country Nolambaviadi Nila-parvata and Koldlapura,
attacker of Kovatir Teriyar Vallir Nangalipura Ghattakapata and Kanchi-
pura, builder of the wonderful Vijaya-Nardyana temple with the wealth
acquired by the strength of his arm, bearer of the tiger crest, lord of Vada-
parvata sanctified by the penance of Brahma, champion over the Malapas, a
swan sporting in the gardens on the banks of the Kavéri, a victorious
Nirayana, the illustrious Tribhuvanamalla-bhujabala-Vira-Ganga-Vishpu-
vardhana-Poysala-Déva was protecting by the power of his arm a dominion
bounded on the east by Nangali, on the south by Kongu Chéram and Ana-
wale, on the west by Barakanir in Konkagpa, and on the north by Savimale—

And when, in company with the senior queen (with many epithets, among
which are), a Kawnale born in the milk-ocean of Balipura, obtainer of boons
from the god Dharmaavara, builder of the Rameévara temple at Isapura, a
moon in increasing the volume of the ocean of affection in the heart of
Vishpuvardhana, rejoicer in bowing to the lotus feet of Parvati, proficient
in all arts, an earnest student of the Bharatagama, a crest-jewel in dancing,
a jewel of protection to all faiths, a Sarasvati in singing, a rutting elephant
to co-wives, the crowned consort Santala-Dévi,——Vishpuvardhana-Poy-
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INSCRIPTIONS RELATING TO THE TEMPLE 21

sala-Dé&va was in his residence in the great city of Valipura, ruling the
kingdom in peace and wisdom—

He set up with great devotion in a fine lofty temple, which was charac-
terised by all the marks of auspiciousness and adorned with female stone
figures, rows of lions and elephants, towers and banners, (with many more
epithets conveying a double meaning), the god Vijaya-Narayana (described
with a number of epithets), and, on Vaddavara the fifth lunar day of the
bright fortnight of Chaitra in the year Hémalambi corresponding to the
8aka year 1039, in order to provide for the daily and occasional enjoyments
and the offerings at the three times of the gods Vijaya-Naridyana, Chenna-
Kaéava and Lakshmi-Narayana, and for the livelihood of the temple servants
(specified), granted a number of villages (named). It was ordered by the
eleventh inocarnation, Vishnuvardhana-Hoysala-D&va, that the surplus
after meeting the expenditure and the income from devotees should be
devoted to temple repairs.

Of the remaining inscriptions relating to the temple, the one on the
pedestal of Vijaya-Narayana or Kasava states that the victorious king
Vishnu, protector of the whole earth, caused to be made the image of
Vijaya- Nirayana, the god of gods; while the one on the pedestal of Kappe-
Chennigardya tells us that the setting up of the god Chenna-Késava, bring-
ing peace to all the creatures of the world, was carried out by Bantala-Davi,
the queen and crowned consort of Vishnu. Two records, Baliar 15 and 25,
refer themselves to the reign of Narasimha I, son of Vishnuvardhana. The
former, which is mostly defaced, seams to register a grant for the god
Vijaya-Narayana. The latter, datod 1173, records a grant of land by the
maha-pasayita (inaster of the robes) Srivaishpava-Tirumnale to provide for
offerings of rice for the god Narasimha enshrined in the ugly structure
attached to the outer wall of the Kasava tewple in the south-west, and for
food to the Srivaishpavas from other places. Of the reign of Ballila II,
son of Narasimha I, there are four inscriptions—Bélar 2, 20, 59 and 72. Of
these, Balir 59, which appears to be the carliest, being dated in 1174, states
that the king remitted all the petty taxes in the twelve villages and their
hamlets belonging to the god Vijaya-Nardyana, and that, for the performance
of prayers, sacrifices, daily service and recitations of the V&das in the
Kasava temple, he granted certain villages (named) to the 120 bkaftas of
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Kesavapura, the 21 of Subhapura and the 30 Srivaishnava sthdnikas of Bélar.
He also gave a village for the supply of milk to the god. Balar 20, dated
1180, records that he crected a kottara or granary for the temple, giving it
the name of Yakshésa-bhandira, and Baldr 2 tells us that he had a pond
made for the god Vijaya-Narayana and named it the Vasudava-sardvara.
Lastly, Bélar 72 informs us that he caused to be made of stone for Vijaya-
Narayana piorced windows, secure door-frames, kitchen, granary, ramn-
parts and the Vasudéva pond. It also refers to his capture of the fortress of
Uchchangi. There is only one record of the reign of Narasimha ITI, son of
Someésvara, namely, Beélir 73, which registers the grant of the village
Bikkigodu for the god Chenna-Késava of Balar. Ten epigraphs, most of
which are dated 1298, fall into the reign of Ballala III, though he is not
named in them. Of these, Bélir 24 says that by order of the great minister
Sémeya-dannayaka the wood work in the tower of the Kasava temple, which
had rowted, broken and fallen, was strengthened and all the fallen bricks
restored by the officer Ranganna, and Beélir 66 tells us that the same
minister, in order to provide for plantains, garlands and certain festivals
(specified) for the god Kaaava, and for the feeding of ascetics and pilgrims,
had funds deposited with the Srivaishnavas of the temple with the condition
that all these works of merit should be carricd on from the accrued interest,
and caused these grants to be inscribed on the west wall of the south
entrance. The wall referred to has engraved on it eight inscriptions giving
details of the grants and the expenditure to be incurred in connection with
the several items.

There are nearly twenty records belonging to the Vijayanagar period.
Five of them, namely, Belar 3, 52, 61, 62 and 63, refer themselves to the
reign of Harihara 1I. The earliest of these, Bélar 52, dated 1381, states
that by order of the king the great minister Kampanna repaired the dilapi-
dated roof of the sukhanasi of the Kesava temple by setting up four pillars
as props. Bélir 63 tells us that, during the time of the minister Muddupa,
Malagarasa of the famous Kéaémira family adorned the Kééava temple with
a golden kalada or finial in 1387. Beélur 61 and 62, found on two lamp-
stands of bell-metal, state that the lamp-stands were presented to the
temple in 1395 by Gundapa-dapndyaka, the house minister of the king.
The men who prepared them were Kdloja and Anakdja, sons of the brazier
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Marala-Mindoja of Patana. The fifth inscription, Balar 8, which appears
to be dated 1397, opens with a number of verses in praise of the god
Kéfava and after giving briefly the pedigree of Harihara TI goes on to give
a long account of the valour and exploits of his minister Gunda-dandadhipa.
We are then told that by order of the king this-minister restored the grants
which Vishpuvardhana had made for the god Késava, his family deity, and
which had by lapse of time been greatly reduced; laid down rules for the
performance of all the services (67 specified) formerly ordained by Vishpu-
vardhana ; and rebuilding with seven storeys the gopura or great tower
over the outer gate, which Ganga-Silar, the Turuka of Kallubarage, had
dismantled and burnt, set up on its summit a golden kalasa. Then follow
several verses in praise of the gsjpura. Beélar 66, an inscription referring
itself to the reign of Bukka II, records the gift in 1405 of a white conch-shell
ornamented with gold for the god Kééava by the king’s house minister
Heggappa and Mallarasa. Baltr 14, an inscription of the time of Déva-
Raya 1, dated 1414, records that his great minister Baiche-dannayaka
caused to be arected a lamp-pillar (see Plate ) for the Krittika festival of
lights and a swing for the swinging festival of the god Kégava. Three ro-
cords, Beélir 11, 13 and 70, all dated in 1484, relate to a chief named
Lakkhanna-nayaka, who was the son of Madhuvarasa-niyaka of Mutta-
gadahalu. Belar 13 records the crection of ‘the yaga3ale in the Kéasava
temple and the other two, grants by him to provide for certain festivals of
the god. There are two cpigraphs, Bélar 57 and 78, of the reign of Krishnpa-
Déva-Raya. The former, dated 1518, registers a grant for the god by
Singappa-nayaka for the merit of the king; while the latter, dated 1524,
records that Basavappa-Niyaka, a servant of the king, constructed a pond
for the floating festival of the god Keésava, the family deity of the king, and
a Vasanta-mantapa, for the spiritual welfare of his parcnts, and made a
grant of two villages (named) to provide for the expensos.of the festival.
Beélur 4, dated 1548, tells us that during the rule of Sadasiva-Raya Chikka-
Singapa-Nayaka granted a village to provide for the car festival of the god
Késava, the family deity of the king. Bélar 1 and 12 are records of the
reign of Sri-Ranga-Raya I: the former, dated 1578, tells us that....yana-
raja granted a village to provide for the daily offerings and those on the
monthly and yearly birthdays of Ramanujachéarya, the servant of the foet of
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the god Késava, in order that merit might accrue to the king, Venkatadri-
Nayaka and his own parents; while the latter, dated 1580, records the
erection of a mantapa of 15 ankanas near the Elephant’s Gate for swing-
ing the god Kaésava during the spring festival by the Bélar chief Venkatéddri-
Nayaka, son of Era-Krishpapa-Nayaka. From Bslur 7, of 15666, we learn
that the same chief built the Garuda shrine in front of Naginayaka's
mantapa.

Of the records that remain to be noticed, Baliur 23, dated 1679, states
that the stone cot kept in the Kalyapa-mantapa was presented to the
temple by Honndjiyamma, daughter of Raghunathaya and Peddajiyamma ;
Balar 30, dated 1588, records the erection of the structure enshrining
Ranganiatha, attached to the outer wall of the Kasava temple in the north-
east, by Tiruvengalaya for the spiritnal welfare of Raghunathaya and his
consort Peddamma ; Balar 22, of 1626, records the construction of a veranda
of 26 ankanas in the north of the temple enclosure by Martiyappa-Nayaka
and Puttanna-Nayaka, servants of Krishnappa-Nayaka's son Venkatadri-
Nayaka, in order that merit might accrue to their parents; and Balar 8,
dated 1696, tells us that Késava-raya, son of Chenniga-riya, caused the
balipitha (or stone pedestal on which the oblations are offered) in Nagi-
niyaka's mantapa to be erected according to the rules of the Pancharatra.
Three inscriptions relate to the kings of Mysore. One of them, Bélir 29,
dated 1717, refers itself to the reign of Krishna-Raja-Odeyar I and records
the construction of a pond and a mantapa in front of the temple for the
spring water-festival of the god by Kappayya, son of Nanjappayya, and a
mouey grant by him for the expenses of the festival; another, Bélar 64, of
1736, states that during the rule of Krishpa-Raja (II) and the minister
Nanja-Raja a chief named Venkata had a kalada fixed on the tower of the
Kédava temple; and the third, Bélar 65, dated 1774, tells us that the same
work was done once again by Nanjayarya during the rule of Chima-Rija
(VIII) and Navab Bahadar Haidar Ali. We may also notice here the ins-
criptions on some of the temple jewels and vessels. A gold hand belonging
to the temple of the goddess bears an inscription stating that it was present-
od by the Mysore king Krishpa-Raja-Odeyar I in 1713. From the inscrip-
tions on a silver pitcher and a gold cup in the temple we learn that they
were presents from Rangaiya of Aigur, a servant of Krishpa-Raja-Odeyar
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III of Mysore, in 1829 and 1830 respectively. A gold necklace set with
precious stones was, as indicated by the inscription on it, a gift from
Nanjammannyi, wife of Krishpe-arasu, in about 1840.

Some of the inscriptions noticed above and extracts from some of the
longer ones are given in the Appendix at the end.

At a short distance to the west of Bslar is situated the Sankardsvara
temple (Plate XLV), a Hoysala structure, consisting of a garbha-grika or
adytum, a sukhandsi or vestibule and a Nandi-mantapa. The navaranga or
middle hall is gone, only the base being left. The garbha-griha is sur-
mounted by a stone tower. The sukhanas: doorway is well executed. It has
perforated screens at the sides and a well carved pediment with Tapdavas-
vara in the centre flanked by makaras. The garbha-griha and sukhanasi
have flat ceilings carved with lotuses. There is also a good figure of
Tandavédvara in front of the embankment over the sukhanas:. The outer
walls have single and double pilasters surmounted by miniature turrets. To
the north of the temple is a small plain shrine of the goddess.

Fergusson makes the following remarks ' in conneotion with the Balar
temple :—

“There are many buildings in India which arc unsurpassed for delicacy
of detail by any in the world, but the temples of Belur and Halebid surpass
even these for freedom of handling and richness of fancy.

Belur temple.—The character of the design of the base under the win-
dows is perhaps as perfect an example of the decorative skill of a Hindu
architect as any to be found in India. The main lines are everywhere
oarried through without interruption, while the varicty and elegance of the
pattern is only such as could issue from the fertile brain, or be executed by
the patient hands, of & Hindu artist. It (the temple) combines construc-
tive propriety with exuberant decoration to an extent not often surpassed in
any part of the world.

Andal shrine.—Its ornaments are sculptures taken from some earlier
temple which has been ruined. These soulptures are as perfect as any to be
found in this neighbourhood. Not only are the figures themselves elegant
and freer from exaggeration than is generally found even in this district,

! Avohsteoture sn Dharwar and Mysore, 44, 48, and 49.
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but the canopies over them are characterised by singular elegance of detail
and beauty of design ”.

In his History of Indian and Eastern Architecture', which contains a
woodout of one of the perforated screens of tho Balar temple, he says :—

“It is not, however, either to its dimensions, or the disposition of its
plan, that this temple owes its pre-eminence among others of its class, but
to the marvellous elaboration and beauty of its details. The following
woodcut will convey some idea of the richness and variety of pattern dis-
played in the windows of the porch. The pierced slabs themselves, however,
are hardly so remarkable as the richly carved base on which they rest, and
the deep cornice which overshadows and protects them. The amount of
labour, indeed, which each facet of this porch displays is such as, I believe,
never was bestowed on any surface of equal extent in any building in the
world ; and though the design is not of the highest order of art, it is elegant
and appropriate, and never offends against good taste.

The sculptures of the base of the vimana are as elaborate as those of
the porch, in some places more so. The upper part of the tower is ano-
malous. It may be that it has been repaired till it has assumed its present,
discordant appearance.”

In Workman's Through Town and Jungle (page 85), which oont.a.ms a
few views of the same temple, these remarks occur :—

“The Belur temple stands in a court which is entered through a
profusely decorated gopura. It has several pavilions, but the chief attrac-
tion is the large and elegant porch with stone windows cut like those at
Somanathpur in many patterns but more elaborate. These windows are
extremely ornamental and perfectly adapted to this style of architecture”.

'1, 439-440.
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APPENDIX.

Inscriptions relating to.the Kesava Temple at Belur.

Belur, 8. 1117. (Extracts).
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